No. 43056-8-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

**Brian Brush,**

Appellant.

---

Pacific County Superior Court Cause No. 09-1-00143-8

The Honorable Judge Michael J. Sullivan

**Appellant's Opening Brief**

Jodi R. Backlund  
Manek R. Mistry  
Attorneys for Appellant

**BACKLUND & MISTRY**  
P.O. Box 6490  
Olympia, WA 98507  
(360) 339-4870  
backlundmistry@gmail.com

**

## **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The trial court erred by admitting Mr. Brush's statement, which was illegally recorded in violation of the Privacy Act.
2. Deputy Police Chief Layman's recordings of Mr. Brush's statements failed to strictly comply with the requirements of the Privacy Act.
3. Mr. Brush was denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel.
4. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to inadmissible and prejudicial evidence.
5. Defense counsel unreasonably failed to seek suppression of Mr. Brush's recorded statements, which were made in violation of the Privacy Act.
6. The trial court violated Mr. Brush's privilege against self-incrimination under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution.
7. The trial court violated Mr. Brush's right to remain silent under Wash. Const. Article I, Section 9.
8. The trial court erred by admitting statements tainted by Mr. Brush's initial unwarned custodial confession.
9. The trial court erred by admitting custodial statements made following a failure to scrupulously honor Mr. Brush's initial invocation of his right to remain silent.
10. The trial court erred by admitting custodial statements made following Mr. Brush's invocation of his right to counsel.
11. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. I-7 (3.5 hearing).
12. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. I-14 (3.5 hearing).
13. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. I-15 (3.5 hearing).

14. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. III-1 (3.5 hearing).
15. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. III-4 (3.5 hearing).
16. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. III-7 (3.5 hearing).
17. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2 (3.5 hearing).
18. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 3 (3.5 hearing).
19. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 4 (3.5 hearing).
20. The trial court violated Mr. Brush's right to a jury trial under the state and federal constitutions.
21. The trial court violated Mr. Brush's right to a decision by the jury he had helped to select.
22. The trial court erred by removing Juror 1 from the jury over Mr. Brush's objection, after the jury had been selected and sworn to try the case.
23. The trial court failed to follow the requirements of RCW 2.36.110 and CrR 6.5 when it removed Juror 1 from the jury without adequate cause.
24. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Brush's motion for a new trial.
25. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 2 (Motion for New Trial).
26. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 3 (Motion for New Trial).
27. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 4 (Motion for New Trial).

28. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2 (Motion for New Trial).
29. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 3 (Motion for New Trial).
30. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 4 (Motion for New Trial).
31. The trial court erred by admitting hearsay over Mr. Brush's objection in violation of ER 802.
32. The three aggravating factors cited by the court in support of its exceptional sentence are not supported by the record.
33. The three aggravating factors cited by the court in support of its exceptional sentence do not justify a sentence above the standard range.
34. The trial judge commented on the evidence, in violation of Wash. Const. Article IV, Section 16.
35. The court's instruction defining "prolonged period of time" impermissibly relieved the state of its burden of establishing every element of the domestic violence/pattern of abuse aggravating factor.
36. The court's instructions on the domestic violence/pattern of abuse aggravating factor failed to make the relevant legal standard manifestly clear to the average juror.
37. The trial court erred by giving Supplemental Instruction No. 26 over Mr. Brush's objection.
38. Mr. Brush's exceptional sentence was clearly excessive.

### **ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The recording of a custodial interrogation is inadmissible at trial unless it was made in strict compliance with the Privacy Act. Here, the prosecution introduced a recording made in

violation of the Privacy Act. Did the erroneous admission of Mr. Brush's illegally recorded statements violate his rights under the Privacy Act?

2. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments guarantee an accused person the effective assistance of counsel. In this case, defense counsel failed to seek suppression of Mr. Brush's illegally recorded statements under the Privacy Act. Was Mr. Brush denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel?
3. An accused person's custodial statement may not be admitted at trial if it is tainted by a prior coerced statement. Here, Mr. Brush was asked at gunpoint if he'd shot a human, and he confessed that he had. Did the admission of Mr. Brush's subsequent custodial statements violate his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination because they were not sufficiently insulated from his prior coerced statement?
4. Police must scrupulously honor a suspect's invocation of his her right to remain silent. In this case, Deputy Police Chief Layman failed to scrupulously honor Mr. Brush's initial invocation of his right to remain silent. Did the trial court err by refusing to suppress statements made after Mr. Brush invoked his right to remain silent?
5. Under the federal constitution, police may not question a suspect after he invokes his right to counsel, unless the suspect himself initiates contact with police and waives his rights. Here, the prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Brush initiated contact after he'd invoked his right to counsel. Did the trial court err by refusing to suppress statements made after Mr. Brush invoked his Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment right to remain silent and his right to counsel?
6. An accused person has the constitutional right to have his case decided by the jury he helped select. Here, the trial judge removed a juror over Mr. Brush's objection after the jury had

been impaneled and sworn to try the case. Did the trial court violate Mr. Brush's rights under the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments and Wash. Const. Article I, Sections 21 and 22?

7. Hearsay evidence is generally inadmissible. Here, the trial judge overruled Mr. Brush's hearsay objection to the testimony of Bonney's daughter, relaying her mother's out-of-court statements. Did the trial judge abuse his discretion by admitting hearsay in violation of ER 802?
8. An exceptional sentence must be reversed if the reasons for it are not supported by the record or do not justify a sentence above the standard range. Here, the court relied on three aggravating factors that are not supported by the record and do not justify a sentence above the standard range. Must Mr. Brush's exceptional sentence be reversed?
9. A trial judge is absolutely prohibited from commenting on matters of fact, and any judicial comment is presumed to be prejudicial. In this case, the judge instructed jurors that a prolonged period of time was "more than a few weeks." Did the trial judge's comment violate Mr. Brush's rights under Article IV, Section 16?
10. An exceptional sentence based on a pattern of abuse requires the prosecution to prove multiple incidents of abuse occurring over a prolonged period of time. Here, the judge instructed jurors that the phrase "prolonged period of time" was "more than a few weeks." Did the instruction relieve the prosecution of its burden to prove the elements of the domestic violence/pattern of abuse aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt, in violation of Mr. Brush's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process?
11. An exceptional sentence may be reversed if it is clearly excessive. The trial court in this case imposed an exceptional sentence of 1060 months, based on three aggravating factors.

If any of the aggravating factors are vacated on appeal, must the sentence be reversed as clearly excessive?



## **STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS**

Brian Brush had a very successful boat business, up until the economy started to fail in late 2007. RP (12/5/11) 43, 45. Around that same time, his mother passed away, and his wife divorced him. RP (11/28/11) 220; RP (11/29/11) 17-18; RP (12/5/11) 46-48, 111.

Mr. Brush met Lisa Bonney online, and they fell in love. RP (11/28/11) 208, 238; RP (12/5/11) 49. They were very attached to each other; however, their relationship was volatile. At one point they became engaged; the engagement was broken off during the summer of 2009. RP (11/28/11) 230, 238; RP (12/5/11) 51, 110. By this time, Mr. Brush was estranged from his children, his business was in receivership, and he was under investigation by the Federal Bureau of Investigation for tax-related issues. RP (10/12/11) 62-63; RP (11/28/11) 199-200, 206, 220; RP (12/5/11) 49-51, 111. Mr. Brush suffered from major depression, as well as post-traumatic stress disorder stemming from his previous work as a police officer. RP (12/5/11) 103-106, 113-114, 166-167.

On September 11, 2009, the town of Long Beach put on a car show called Rod Run. The town's beach was crowded with both locals and tourists. RP (10/12/11) 3, 27; RP (12/5/11) 61, 64. That morning, Mr. Brush went hunting with his dog, did some yard work at Bonney's house,

and went to the bank to sign over a boat to his creditors. RP (11/28/11) 228, RP (11/29/11) 102, 115; RP (12/5/11) 56.

In the afternoon, he met Bonney at the beach. Their relationship was strained, and both felt they would break up permanently. They sat on a bench and spoke about issues relating to assets they shared, including a home he'd purchased for her. RP (11/28/11) 231-232, 247; RP (12/5/11) 57-61, 146, 200.

The couple argued; Bonney didn't want Mr. Brush to allow the bank to foreclose on the home; Mr. Brush saw no other options. At some point, Bonney angrily told Mr. Brush that he was not a man, and called him a "pussy". RP (11/28/11) 249; RP (12/5/11) 57-61. Mr. Brush walked to his truck, grabbed his shotgun, and shot Bonney four times in quick succession. RP (11/28/11) 81-83, 102, 112, 115, 120-122, 124, 135, 138.

Three police officers saw him do this and immediately came over and yelled commands. Mr. Brush threw down the gun, walked toward the officers, knelt on the ground, and then lay prone. RP (10/12/11) 17; RP (11/28/11) 83-85, 110-111, 137. All three officers had their weapons drawn. RP (10/12/11) 16. The shooting occurred at 4:41pm. RP (11/28/11) 104-106.

While Mr. Brush was on the ground being handcuffed, Officer Arlie Boggs asked, “Were you shooting at a human?” RP (10/12/11) 7, 8. Mr. Brush replied that he was. RP (10/12/11) 7, 19. As he was being taken into custody, Officer Boggs read Mr. Brush his rights. RP (10/12/11) 10-11, 17, 18. When asked if he wished to talk with police, Mr. Brush replied “no”. RP (10/12/11) 11, 20.

Mr. Brush was secured in the back of Cosmopolis Deputy Police Chief Heath Layman’s car. At 4:48 p.m. Layman read Mr. Brush his rights from a form, and again asked if he wished to talk. He was not asked to sign the rights form. RP (10/12/11) 50-54, 78. Layman checked the box labeled “no”, indicating that Mr. Brush did not wish to answer questions. RP (10/12/11) 53-54, 78; Ex. I, Supp. CP.

After about forty-five minutes,<sup>1</sup> Mr. Brush was transported to the police station. RP (10/12/11) 59. Layman and Pacific County Undersheriff Ron Clark interviewed him. RP (10/12/11) 44. They recorded the interview, which started at 5:52pm. RP (10/12/11) 32, 58. The recording of the interview does not include any indication that Mr. Brush consented to the recording. Nor did the recording include a

---

<sup>1</sup> At some point while still at the scene, Mr. Brush reported that he was having chest pains. The police summoned paramedics, who checked and cleared Mr. Brush. RP (10/12/11) 30-31; RP (11/28/11) 198.

recitation of Mr. Brush's Miranda rights. RP (10/12/11) 32-38; Ex. H (admitted 10/12/11), Supp. CP.

Mr. Brush described his volatile relationship with Bonney, outlined abuse he'd suffered at her hands, and indicated that he had no memory of the shooting itself. RP (11/28/11) 205-239. Towards the end of his statement, he expressed surprise at discovering that he'd shot Bonney. RP (10/12/11) 73; RP (11/28/11) 239.

After about thirty minutes, Mr. Brush requested an attorney and the interview stopped. RP (10/12/11) 33-36, 66; Ex. H, Supp. CP.

Layman returned to his office. Once there, he received a phone call from Long Beach Police Chief Flint Wright, indicating that Mr. Brush wished to speak with him further. RP (10/12/11) 66-68. Layman returned and conducted a second recorded interview, starting at 7:27 pm. This time, he administered Miranda warnings as part of the recorded interview. RP (10/12/11) 67-69, 79; Ex. H, K, Supp. CP.

LAYMAN: Alright we are recording It's uh September 11, Friday, 7:27 pm. We are at the south Pacific County Sheriff's Office in Long Beach. I was requested to come back at the request of Brian to uh provide me some additional information. This is with the understanding that he had earlier advised me that he did not want to talk to me anymore because he wanted an attorney at that point we ended it. However, he has initiated contact asking to come back and talk to him. With that in mind Brian do you still want to talk to me?  
Ex. H, Supp. CP.

Mr. Brush agreed to talk to Layman; the second recorded interview lasted until 7:39 p.m. Ex. H, Ex. K, Supp. CP. Mr. Brush described how Bonney had scratched him, hit him, and told him to “be a f\*cking man.” He told the officer that the last thing he remembered was Bonney telling him “Be a man, don’t be a pussy.” He also said he didn’t remember getting the gun from the truck. He told Layman that he tried to get in the truck to get away from her, and again said he didn’t remember getting the gun or shooting her. Ex. H, Ex. K, Supp. CP.

Deputy Chief Layman said he thought Mr. Brush did remember, but was trying hard to forget because it was painful, and suggested that he was “intentionally blocking that image from [his] mind.” Mr. Brush told him that he remembered nothing until he was on the ground, responding to directives from the police. He also said that when he stepped on the running board to get in the truck and drive away, Bonney grabbed him and wouldn’t let him leave. Layman ended the interview by confirming that Mr. Brush understood he was being charged with murder. Ex. H, Ex. K, Supp. CP. See also RP (11/28/11) 247-259.

The state charged Mr. Brush with Murder in the First Degree. The state alleged several aggravators:

(3)(a) The defendant’s conduct during the commission of the current offense manifested deliberate cruelty to the victim.

(3)(h) The current offense involved domestic violence, as defined in RCW 10.99.020, and one or more of the following was present: (i) The offense was part of an ongoing pattern of psychological, physical, or sexual abuse of the victim manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time; . . . or (iii) The offender's conduct during the commission of the current offense manifested deliberate cruelty or intimidation of the victim.

(3)(y) The victim's injuries substantially exceed the level of bodily harm necessary to satisfy the elements of the offense. This aggravator is not an exception to RCW 9.94A.530(2).

And furthermore, at the time of the commission of the crime, the Defendant was armed with a firearm, contrary to RCW 9.94A.533(3)(a) which adds an additional 60 months confinement. CP 11-13.

A hearing was held to determine the admissibility of Mr. Brush's statements. RP (10/12/11). At the hearing, Layman testified that while he did check the "no" box regarding whether Mr. Brush was willing to answer questions, Mr. Brush actually said that he would talk but not while still at the scene. RP (10/12/11) 50-53. He said that he did not ask Mr. Brush to sign the form when it was completed. RP (10/12/11) 54.

The prosecution also presented Layman's testimony that he'd been told Mr. Brush wished to speak to him (after concluding the first recorded interview by requesting an attorney.). RP (10/12/11) 65-66. According to Layman, he received a call from Long Beach Chief of Police Wright, who told him that "Mr. Brush had asked that I come back and talk to him." RP (10/12/11) 66-68. Layman said that no one affirmatively stated that they

had tried to get Mr. Brush to talk more. RP (10/12/11) 70. However, the state did not present the testimony of Chief Wright or anyone else who spoke with Mr. Brush after the first recorded interview; nor did the state introduce any evidence regarding who initiated the conversation between Mr. Brush and Chief Wright, what was discussed, or how Mr. Brush came to make his request to see Layman again. RP (10/12/11) 1-90.

Mr. Brush argued that all of his statements should have been suppressed, because all were tainted by his initial coerced admission that he was shooting at a human being. RP (10/12/11) 96-101. He also argued that the recorded statements were inadmissible because Mr. Brush didn't sign a rights form at the scene or before the first recorded statement. RP (10/12/11) 98-99.

The court suppressed Mr. Brush's initial statement (when he admitted shooting at a human), but found the remaining statements admissible. RP (10/12/11) 103-116; CP 30-40.

Jury selection lasted two days. A jury was selected and jurors were sworn to try the case. Clerk's Minutes filed 12/6/11, Supp. CP. On the third day of trial, the bailiff told the judge court that Juror 1 had learned that his boss had purchased him a plane ticket to go to Alaska. He'd received no advance notice, and his trip was expected to last a month. RP (11/28/11) 2-7. The court and parties questioned the juror. Juror 1 told

the court that missing the trip would create a financial hardship, but would not impact his ability to “concentrate fully on the trial.” RP (11/28/11) 15-20. The court excused the juror over Mr. Brush’s objection. RP (11/28/11) 21-23.

The trial was bifurcated, so that jurors would not hear any allegations of a pattern of domestic violence until a second sentencing phase. RP (11/15/11) 102-126. During the guilt phase, one state expert opined that at least one of the shots was fired from a distance of three feet or less, and that the others were fired from three to nine feet away. RP (11/29/11) 66-71.

The medical examiner who conducted the autopsy opined that the first shot was to Bonney’s torso, from roughly four or five feet away. He testified that the shot would have caused pain, but would not have been fatal. RP (11/30/11) 20-24. The second shot was a fatal shot: it hit her spine and pierced many vital organs. RP (11/30/11) 25-27, 31-33. The third shot hit her buttocks, and was also fatal. RP (11/30/11) 34-37. The last shot was to her head, displacing bone and tissue from her skull; it too was a fatal shot. RP (11/30/11) 38-43.

The medical examiner told the jury that the third and fourth shots were not necessary to kill her, but that they were “to make sure she was dead”. RP (11/30/11) 45-46. Over defense objection, he opined that the



damage done by the shots was “far in excess of what is required to just kill somebody.” RP (11/30/11) 48-49.

Mr. Brush presented expert testimony in support of a diminished capacity defense. The prosecution countered with its own expert, who claimed that Mr. Brush acted intentionally and with premeditation. RP (12/5/11) 25-224. Both experts diagnosed Mr. Brush with major depression, post-traumatic stress disorder, and a personality disorder. RP (12/5/11) 103-106, 113-114, 166-167.

During cross-examination of the defense expert, the prosecutor brought out past incidents that the doctor considered in developing her opinion. RP (12/5/11) 130-153. These included an incident in which Mr. Brush hit Bonney’s car with a hammer during an argument, and another incident in which he’d followed Bonney to a man’s home and confronted both of them. RP (12/5/11) 133, 138. Mr. Brush had apparently also threatened Bonney with “financial ruin”. RP (12/5/11) 139.

The jury found Mr. Brush guilty of Murder in the First Degree. Verdict Form A, Supp. CP. They also returned special verdicts finding that Mr. Brush and Bonney were members of the same family or household, that Mr. Brush was armed with a firearm, that Mr. Brush’s conduct manifested deliberate cruelty, that the injuries substantially exceeded the level of bodily harm necessary to satisfy the elements of the offense, and

that the crime was an “aggravated domestic violence offense” (based on allegations that Mr. Brush’s conduct manifested deliberate cruelty and that Bonney’s injuries substantially exceeded those necessary to meet the elements of the offense). Special Verdict Forms 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, Supp. CP.

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