No. 43056-8-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BRIAN BRUSH,

Appellant.

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
2013 MAR 26 AM 11:49
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY *DM*
DEPUTY

Pacific County Superior Court Cause No. 09-1-00143-8
The Honorable Judge Michael J. Sullivan

STATE'S REPLY BRIEF

DAVID BURKE
PACIFIC COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE
P.O. BOX 45
SOUTH BEND, WASHINGTON 98586
(360) 875-9361

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

ARGUMENT

I. MR. BRUSH'S CONVICTION SHOULD NOT BE REVERSED BASED ON A PRIVACY ACT VIOLATION.

A. Standard of review.

Admission of evidence in violation of the privacy act is a statutory, rather a constitutional, violation. *State v. Courtney*, 137 Wash.App. 376, 383, 153 P.3d 238 (2007). Failure to object on the basis that tape recordings were made without consent constitutes a waiver on appeal. *State v. Sengxay*, 80 Wash.App. 11, 15, 906 P.2d 368 (1995). In general, RAP 2.5(a) does not permit a party to raise a claim of error for the first time on appeal. However, an appellant can raise a claimed error if (1) the

error is manifest, and (2) the error is truly of constitutional dimension. *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wash.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). A showing of actual prejudice is required. *State v. Walsh*, 143 Wash.2d 1, 8, 17 P.3d 591(2001); *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wash.2d 322, 333–34, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). If a court determines that a claim raises a manifest constitutional error, it may still be subject to harmless error analysis. *Kirkman*, 159 Wash.2d at 927.

B. Mr. Brush agreed to have the audio tapes of his conversations with police played to the jury; he, therefore, waived any objection on appeal.

Mr. Brush raised no objection to the admission and playing of both law enforcement interviews. RP (11/28/11) 37-41, 147-149, 247. It is evident from the record, and Mr. Brush's asserted defense, that the decision to play the recordings was tactical. Hence, Mr. Brush cannot choose a trial strategy and thereafter use Chapter 9.73 RCW to complain about the efficacy of his decision to allow the audio recordings to be played to the jury. Mr. Brush's Defense counsel effectively waived any right he is now asserting.

C. Any error in admitting the audio recordings of Mr. Brush was harmless since the substance of the communications would have been placed before the jury.

There is no reasonable expectation of privacy for persons in custody undergoing custodial interrogations. The remedy for a violation of the Privacy Act is not exclusion of the evidence, but rather exclusion of the recording. *Lewis v. Dep't of Licensing*, 157 Wash.2d 446, 467, 139 P.3d 1078 (2006). As a result, Mr. Brush's confession would have been properly admitted. Moreover, the third recording admitted in Mr. Brush's trial— his call from jail to his ex-wife where he admits to killing Ms. Bonney— would not have been excluded. The jury therefore would have been apprised about Mr. Brush's confession at the Sheriff's office. The jury would have listened to the recorded confession from the jail, and the jury would have heard the testimony of several eye-witnesses who observed the murder. As a result, any error alleged by the Appellant is harmless.

II. MR. BRUSH WAS NOT SUBJECT TO INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

A. Standard of review.

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of fact and law which is reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Sutherby*, 165 Wash.2d 870, 883, 204 P.3d 916 (2009).

B. Defense counsel was not ineffective by deciding to admit the recorded interviews.

“To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the defendant must show that (1) defense counsel's representation was deficient, in that it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant.” *Sutherby*, 165 Wash.2d at 883, citing *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wash.2d 322, 334–35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995) (applying the two-prong test of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)). Counsel is presumed to be effective, “and the defendant must show there was no legitimate strategic or tactical reason for counsel's action.” *Sutherby*, 165 Wash.2d at 883. The Appellant also must demonstrate that but for the error, the result of the trial would have been different. *State v. Courtney*, 137 Wash.App. 376, 383-384, 153 P.3d 238 (2007) (an ineffective assistance argument is without merit where trial counsel did not move to suppress a video confession that did not strictly comply with RCW 9.73.090--the Privacy Act).

Here, Defense counsel agreed to the admission of the audio tape recordings as a tactical measure, and the State made certain that their decision was part of the record. RP (11/28/11) 37-41, 147-49, 247. The recordings were the only way for Mr. Brush's confession to have any context, convey any emotion, or demonstrate his mental state at the time

of the murder, all of which were placed at issue by Defense counsel in their diminished capacity defense. Tactically, this was the best evidence of Mr. Brush's state of mind at the time of the events. Therefore, the Appellant has failed to demonstrate the absence of a tactical decision.

Further, this error was invited by Mr. Brush. *State v. Jones*, 144 Wash.App. 284, 298, 183 P.3d 307 (2008) (under the invited error doctrine, an appellate court "may decline to review a claimed trial court error if the appealing party induced the court to make the error").

Finally, Mr. Brush must demonstrate that the result of the proceeding would have been different "but for" Defense counsel's deficient representation. *McFarland*, 127 Wash. 2d at 337. Even if the recordings were suppressed, the evidence contained on the recordings and any evidence derived therefrom nevertheless would have been admissible at trial. *Courtney*, 137 Wash.App. at 383 ("a violation of section .090 of the privacy act does not require suppression of derivative evidence"). Thus, it is only the recordings themselves that would have been inadmissible. *Lewis*, 157 Wash.2d at 472.

Even if Mr. Brush's recorded confessions on the day of the murder were excluded, no less than five witnesses observed Mr. Brush shoot Ms. Bonney. Additionally, Mr. Brush talked to his ex-wife on a recorded telephone line the day after his arrest and stated four times, "I killed Lisa,"

referring to Ms. Bonney. Consequently, it cannot be said that excluding the audio tapes that were recorded on the day of the murder would have changed the outcome of the trial. RP (11/29/11) 21, 24.

The Appellant has failed to demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel.

III. MR. BRUSH'S SELF-INCRIMINATING STATEMENTS WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED.

A. Standard of review.

A trial court's CrR 3.5 findings of fact are not disturbed if substantial evidence supports them. *State v. Broadaway*, 133 Wash.2d 118, 131, 942 P.2d 363 (1997).

B. Mr. Brush's statements to the police were not coerced; nothing in the record indicates that the police violated Mr. Brush's constitutional rights.

The statements at issue here occurred while three police officers observed a shooting incident. They initially were unaware that Mr. Brush was shooting at a person. One officer asked Mr. Brush whether he was shooting at a human being in order to determine whether an ambulance was needed. In response to this question, Mr. Brush answered "yes". RP 10/12/11) 8-9. No other questions were asked by any of the three officers, but instead they searched the area to determine if there was a victim and what aid might be needed. The question posed did not constitute an

interrogation in the classic sense, but instead can be best categorized as a question in the heat of the moment by an officer who wanted to determine what action needed to be taken. RP (10/12/11) 18-21.

Mr. Brush, a former police officer,² was obviously aware of his rights. Within 30 seconds of being placed in handcuffs, Mr. Brush was read his *Miranda* warnings, and he indicated that he understood them. RP (10/12/11) 11-12, 23, 25, 50-51, 54. Mr. Brush was again read his *Miranda* warnings a second time before being placed in the patrol vehicle at the scene, and, when asked if he would talk with police, he said, “Yes, I’ll talk to you but not here... not where I can see this.” RP (10/12/11) 54, 82. Mr. Brush complained of chest pains and aid was called. After being medically cleared, he was transported to the Pacific County Sheriff’s Office where he was again re-advised of his *Miranda* warnings.³ RP (10/12/11) 58, 66. Mr. Brush was interviewed by two police officers who both questioned Mr. Brush about the events of the day. The interview was concluded when Mr. Brush indicated that he wanted an attorney, and no

² *Miller v. Fenton*, 796 F.2d 598, 606 (3d Cir.1986) (familiarity of rights is also relevant).

³ Mr. Brush was advised of his *Miranda* rights before the recorded interview commenced. The *Miranda* warnings were redacted for the jury.

further questions were asked; Mr. Brush was released to Pacific County Corrections Officers. RP (10/12/11) 67.

Mr. Brush re-initiated contact and asked for a second interview. RP (10/12/11) 67-68, 71-72. Mr. Brush was again advised of his *Miranda* warnings and signed a form waiving those rights. RP (10/12/11) 71, 80-81. Deputy Chief Layman testified that no one talked to Mr. Brush to convince him to be re-interviewed. RP (10/21/11) 71-72.

The trial judge found Mr. Brush's waivers and confession were knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily made, without threat or coercion, and were not tainted by any initial questioning. RP (10/12/11) 104-118; *see* Appendix A. To rebut these findings, the Appellant relies on *Missouri v. Seibert*, 542 U.S. 600, 124 S.Ct. 260 159 L.Ed 2d 643 (2004). Brief of Appellant at 26. The present case is entirely unlike *Seibert* which involved police questioning of a defendant for 30 to 40 minutes before *Miranda* warnings were given. The present case is more closely aligned with *Oregon v. Elstad*, 470 U.S. 298, 105 S.Ct. 1285, 84 L.Ed. 2d 222 (1985), where the Supreme Court held that a prior remark made by a defendant in response to questioning without the benefit of *Miranda* warnings did not render inadmissible a subsequent voluntary confession.

Thus, even if the pre-*Miranda* statement was not admissible, the post-*Miranda* statements were insulated from any taint and properly

admitted. Unless a prior unwarned statement was actually coerced, subsequent *Miranda* warnings provide the accused a choice as to whether to exercise the privilege to remain silent. *State v. Ustimenko*, 137 Wash.App. 109, 116, 151 P.3d 256 (2007). Whether Mr. Brush may have confessed to criminal activity in his responses to Officer Boggs is irrelevant to the admissibility of his post-*Miranda* statements. *State v. Allenby*, 68 Wash.App. 657, 660-662, 847 P.2d 1 (1992).

When a prior unwarned statement is voluntary, a break in time is not required to make a second warned confession can be rendered admissible; a proper administration of *Miranda* warnings “conveys the relevant information and thereafter the suspect's choice whether to exercise his privilege to remain silent should ordinarily be viewed as an ‘act of free will.’” *Allenby*, 68 Wash.App. at 660, (quoting *Elstad*, 470 U.S. at 311. “[A] *Miranda* violation without actual coercion will not taint evidence derived from a confession, no matter what form such evidence takes.” *State v. Wethered*, 110 Wash.2d 466, 474, 755 P.2d 797 (1985).

Based on the totality of the circumstances, there was substantial evidence supporting the trial judge’s determination that Mr. Brush knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waived his right to silence, which rendered his statements admissible at trial. *See* Appendix A. Mr. Brush’s first recorded interview was insulated from any statement made at the time

of arrest by more than an hour and his second interview started about an hour after the first interview ended. RP (10/12/11) 4-13, 33-34, 59, 68. There is no evidence to suggest that any interview was the product of a two-part *Missouri v. Seibert*⁴ interrogation.

C. Mr. Brush's initial statement to Officer Boggs did not taint subsequent statements made by Mr. Brush to the police.

Mr. Brush argues that his initial statement to Officer Boggs tainted any subsequent statements that Mr. Brush made to the police. Brief of Appellant at 27-30. The Appellant asserts that the two recorded interviews should have been suppressed. Brief of Appellant at 30. The Appellant rests his argument on the assertion that his custodial statement to Officer Boggs with regard to the shooting of a human being was coerced.

The State concedes that Mr. Brush was in custody when he made the statement about shooting a human being, because he was being handcuffed and was not free to leave. The relevant question, however, is not whether Mr. Brush was in custody but whether the "confession" was

⁴ It is important to emphasize that in *Seibert* the interrogating officers deliberately questioned a suspect without providing *Miranda* warnings until the suspect confessed. At this point, the officers advised the suspect of her *Miranda* rights, acquired a waiver from her, and then resumed interrogation. The officers then referred to the suspect's earlier pre-*Miranda* admissions to elicit a post-*Miranda* confession.

coerced. The defendant's volition in providing pre-*Miranda* statements, absent deliberately coercive or improper tactics in obtaining the inculpatory statements, renders subsequent statements an "act of free will." *Elstad*, 470 U.S. at 311. The relevant question, therefore, turns on whether a confession is coerced. The presence of coercion is judged "under the totality of the circumstances." *State v. Broadaway*, 133 Wash.2d 118, 132, 942 P.2d 363 (1997). To answer the question, courts have looked at whether the statements were "extracted by any sorts of threats, violence, or direct or implied promises, however slight." *State v. Riley*, 17 Wash.App. 732, 735, 565 P.2d 105 (1977). Other factors include "the condition of the defendant, the defendant's mental abilities, and the conduct of the police." *Broadaway*, 133 Wash.2d at 132. One also must consider "any promises or misrepresentations made by the interrogating officers." *Id.*

In large measure, the Appellant relies on the "cat out of the bag" doctrine to justify the suppression of subsequent recorded statements. Brief of Appellant at 27-30. However, the Appellant does not acknowledge that the "cat out of the bag" doctrine has been severely limited. *See Elstad*, 470 U.S. at 310-314. Moreover, the Appellant asserts, with little or no analysis, that his statement to Officer Boggs was involuntary. Brief of Appellant at 28-29. In short, the Appellant fails to

apply the “totality of the circumstances” test. The application of this test shows that Officer Boggs did not make any threats or imply any promises. The record also does not indicate that Mr. Brush suffered any mental infirmities that would cause him to not understand the question posed by Officer Boggs. Similarly, actions of Mr. Brush at the time he was arrested by the police demonstrate that he understood what was happening. The evidence shows that law enforcement officers were trying to restrain Mr. Brush so that they could examine the scene to determine exactly what had happened and to render any necessary aid. Officer Boggs testified that he asked Mr. Brush about shooting at a human being in order to determine whether medical personnel needed to be summoned. Officer Boggs also testified that Mr. Brush was handcuffed in order to protect the police officers and to enable them to secure the scene. RP (10/12/11) 18-21. Under such circumstances, there is ample evidence to support the conclusion that Mr. Brush’s statement to Officer Boggs was not coerced and therefore was voluntary. Under *Elstad*, the subsequent recorded statements are therefore admissible.

In a similar vein, the testimony of Officer Boggs brings into play the “public safety” exception to the requirement of *Miranda* warnings. See *New York v. Quarles*, 467 U.S. 649, 656, 104 S.Ct. 2626, 81 L.Ed.2d 550 (1984) (“the doctrinal underpinnings of *Miranda* [do not] require that

it be applied in all its rigor to a situation in which police officers ask questions reasonably prompted by a concern for the public safety”). Officer Boggs was quite clear in testifying that he asked Mr. Brush the one question about shooting at a human being in order to get a better handle on what the police needed to do next. Consequently, Officer Boggs’ single question to Mr. Brush falls under the ambit of the public safety exception to the *Miranda* rule.

Of equal significance is the fact that Officer Boggs’ question was not coercive. The lack of coercion obviates any argument attacking the admissibility of Mr. Brush’s subsequent statements. In this regard, it also needs to be pointed out that an appellate court must apply a substantial evidence standard in analyzing the question of voluntariness. As stated in *State v. L.U.*:

If there is substantial evidence in the record from which the trial court could have found by a preponderance of the evidence that the confession was voluntary, we will not disturb the trial court’s determination of voluntariness on appeal.

137 Wash.App. 410, 414, 153 P.3d 894 (2007).

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